Integrated Adult Social Care and Health

Charging Policy:
Non-Residential Care





POLICY INFORMATION SHEET	
Name of Document	Charging Policy: Non-Residential Care
Author	Director of Integrated Adult Social Care and Health
Reference Number	02
Service area	Adult Social Care
Target Audience	Cheshire West and Chester Council Staff Members of the Public
Forum Policy/Procedure/Strategy was approved	Cabinet
Date policy was approved	Cabinet Approval – Feb 21
Approved By	Cabinet Approval – Feb 21
Approver's Signature	Charlette Welton
	Charlotte Walton
Date policy is effective from	April 2021
Date of review(s)	April 2022
Status:	
Mandatory (all named staff must adhere to guidance)	Mandatory
Optional (procedures and practice can vary between teams)	
Location of Document	Cheshire West and Chester Council Website
Related document(s)	
	ASC Transport Policy
Superseded document(s)	Non-Residential Charging Policy, Adults Social Care Prevention and Wellbeing.
Responsible officer(s)	Paula Snow, Senior Manager

Contents

- 1. Introduction and Legislation Framework
- 2. Principles of the Policy
- 3. Scope and Exclusions
- 4. Community Charges and Notification Periods
- 5. Direct Payments/Personal Budget
- 6. Charges for Shared Lives Services
- 7. Charges for Money Management
- 8. Carers
- 9. Benefits Advice
- 10. Consent to Share Financial Information
- 11. Mental Capacity to Manage Finances
- 12. Financial Assessment
- 13. Disability Related Expenditure (DRE)
- 14. Calculation of Actual Contribution
- 15. Light Touch Financial Assessment
- **16. Exceptional Circumstances**
- 17. Refusal to co-operate with a Financial Assessment and nondisclosure of financial details.
- 18. Deprivation of Assets
- 19. Non-payment of Care Charges
- 20. Cancellation of Service due to Financial Charge
- 21. Right to Review

1. Introduction and Legislation Framework

- 1.1 The main aim of this policy is to provide a consistent and fair framework for charging all service users who receive care and support services, following an assessment of their individual needs, and their individual financial circumstances. This policy replaces existing provisions from the date of approval.
- 1.2 The policy will be reviewed annually and be updated to take into account the annual Adult Social Care survey, best practice guidance and changes in statute.
- 1.3 This policy complies with the Care Act 2014 which provides a single legal framework for charging for care and support in Adult Social Care Services. It describes the principles and procedures used by Cheshire West and Chester Council (CW&C) when assessing service users' contribution towards the cost of their non-residential community care services.
- 1.4 Section 14 of the Care Act 2014 gives local authorities the power to charge adults for care and support. This applies where adults are being provided with care and support to meet needs identified under Section 18, Section 19 or Section 20 of the Care Act 2014. These needs are sometimes referred to as 'identified or assessed needs'. Section 17 of the Care Act permits local authorities to undertake an assessment of an individual's financial resources to determine the amount, if any that they will be required to pay towards the cost of their care.
- 1.5 Local Authorities must follow the regulations and guidance issued under the Care Act 2014. For example, in developing policies on charging and financial assessment, Local Authorities must comply with the following document:

'The Care and support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014' which sets out:

- How a Local Authority is to carry out a financial assessment if the Local Authority is to charge for care and support.
- Rules on treatment and calculation of income and capital within a financial assessment (including notional income and notional capital where a person has deliberately deprived themselves of an asset)
- Rules on minimum allowances to be given within a financial assessment
- The power to charge the costs of putting arrangements into place in specific situations.
- 1.6 The Care and Support Statutory Guidance (including Annexes), issued by the Department of Health and Social Care under the Care Act 2014, sets out much of the detail regarding provision and charging for care and support.

- 1.7 Further information relating to the Care Act 2014 can be found by following the links below to the Department of Health website:
 - https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/315993/Care-Act-Guidance.pdf
 - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-part-1factsheets/care-act-factsheets

2. Principles of the Policy

- 2.1 The overarching principles of the Council's charging policy are to:
 - Ensure that people are not charged more than it is reasonably practical for them to pay;
 - Be comprehensive and equitable, to reduce variation in the way people are assessed and charged so those with comparable needs or services are treated similarly;
 - Be clear and transparent, so people know how they will be charged;
 - Promote wellbeing, social inclusion, and support the vision of personalisation, independence, choice and control;
 - Be sustainable for the Council in the long term.
 - People receiving Local Authority arranged care and support other than
 in a care home need to retain a certain level of income to cover their
 living costs. Under the Care Act 2014, charges must not reduce people's
 income below a certain amount, but Local Authorities can allow people
 to keep more of their income if they wish. This is a weekly amount and
 is known as the minimum income guarantee (MIG).
 - Any charge for care and support services will not exceed the cost that the Council incurs in meeting the assessed needs.

3. Scope and Exclusions

- 3.1 Cheshire West and Chester Council have a duty to meet eligible care and support needs of people who require non-residential care and request that assistance of the Council. The Council will meet identified needs where the service user is ordinarily resident in Cheshire West and Chester or is present in its area but of no settled residence.
- 3.2 All non-residential services fall within the scope of this policy and include:
 - Care at home (also known as domiciliary care)
 - Supported Housing
 - Extra Care
 - Shared Lives Service
 - Day Care Services (including place based and in the community)
 - Transport
 - Respite that is not in a residential care home

- Telecare
- Direct Payments and Personal Budgets
- Maintenance packages of care (packages of care provided by the Council's reablement service which remain ongoing following termination of 'reablement intervention' up to the maximum 6 week)
- Administration fee for money management.
- Joint funded services
- 3.3 Services not included within the scope of this policy:
 - Residential/Nursing Home Care
 - Respite and short stays in residential/nursing homes
 - Continuing Health Care (CHC) funded packages this is a service funded by NHS and is the responsibility of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). If a decision is taken to backdate CHC services, then any charges collected will be reimbursed from the date CHC was awarded.
- 3.4 The Council may not charge for the following services as they are legally exempt from charging under the Care Act 2014:
 - Any services provided as After Care Services under section 117 of the Mental Health Act.
 - Reablement service/Intermediate Care services which are short term intervention to avoid inappropriate admissions to hospital or facilitate discharge from hospital - for a period of up to 6 weeks
 - Equipment and adaptations costing less than £1000
 - Services provided to people suffering from Creutzfeldt Jakob disease.
 - Providing any information and advice about the availability of services or for an assessment.
 - Services for children and young people under 18 years
 - Former Relevant Children may be exempt from some costs related to living near to where they work or are in continued education or training

Please see guidance within the Care Act 2014 for further information.

4. Community Charges and notification periods

4.1 Where applicable, charges for services will be based upon the hours commissioned by the Council and agreed with the service user when developing their care and support plan. The charge to be paid for these services will be determined by carrying out a financial assessment.

Charges for services will apply unless a minimum of 1 weeks' notice is given to the provider by the service user or their representative. However, in extenuating circumstance for e.g. an emergency hospital admission or ill health the requirement to give 1 weeks' notice would be waivered and a charge not applied. A senior manager within Adult Social Care will be required to make this decision.

4.2 Extra Care Charges

- 4.2.1 Residents of extra care housing schemes who do **not** have eligible needs under the Care Act will be charged a flat rate fee per apartment. This is a wellbeing charge for an emergency response service provided by care staff within the scheme during the day or night, it is not a charge for care. This wellbeing charge is not covered in any financial assessment and therefore the full fee shall be payable by each apartment within the extra care schemes.
- 4.2.2 The flat rate charge will be applied for the duration of the period the resident(s) occupies an Extra Care apartment including periods that the apartment is temporarily empty, for example when a resident is on holiday or during hospital stays.
- 4.2.3 Residents who **do** have eligible needs under the Care Act and have been assessed as requiring extra care housing will be financially assessed for commissioned services within their care and support plan. The commissioned service will include an emergency response service by care staff and any additional support required as a result of emergency intervention.
- 4.2.4 For any services which have been commissioned by the Council within the care and support plan the provider will require a minimum of 1 weeks 'prior notice to cancel a service otherwise full charges will be incurred. However, in extenuating circumstance for e.g. an emergency hospital admission or ill health the requirement to give 1 weeks' notice would be waivered and a charge not applied. A senior manager within Adult Social Care will be required to make this decision.
- 4.2.5 All care provided to a service user within Extra Care Housing will be agreed between the service user and the Council and reflected in the care and support plan.

4.3 Day Care Charges

- 4.3.1 Charges for day care services will be identified in the commissioned care and support plan and calculated within the financial assessment.
- 4.3.2 Day care places are pre booked and the cost of the service is still incurred if a service user does not attend. Therefore, charges will apply for non-attendance for a period up to 4 weeks if prior notice is not given. However, if prior notice is given the day care place will be held open for up to 4 weeks and will not incur a charge. After this 4 week period the day care place will be cancelled, and a discussion will take place between the social care worker and the service user about how the service users assessed needs will be met.
- 4.3.3 Where a service user gives prior notice of non-attendance or wishes to cancel a day care place, then one weeks' notice is required, and a service user will not be charged. However, in extenuating circumstance for e.g. an emergency hospital admission or ill health the requirement to give 1 weeks'

notice would be waivered and a charge not applied. A senior manager within Adult Social Care will be required to make this decision.

- 4.3.4 There is no charge made to service users when the service is not available for example on bank holidays when the centre will be closed.
- 4.3.5 The provision of meals and refreshment will vary between day centres however charges for meals and refreshments are outside the scope of the financial assessment. This is in line with the Care and Support Statutory guidance issued by the Department of Health which considers this a substitute for ordinary living costs.

4.4 Care at Home and Supported Living

- 4.4.1 The level of support required will be discussed and agreed within the care and support plan following a Care Act assessment. Where applicable, charges for services will be based upon the hours commissioned by the Council and determined by carrying out a financial assessment.
- 4.4.2 Service users will be required to give their care provider one weeks' prior notice for cancelling a service otherwise full charges will be incurred. If visits are cancelled on a regular basis, or the visits are lasting longer or less time than the commissioned care package the social care worker may undertake a review of the Care Act assessment, and the financial assessment may also be updated to reflect the change in the care package. However, in extenuating circumstance for e.g. an emergency hospital admission or ill health the requirement to give 1 weeks' notice would be waivered and a charge not applied. A senior manager within Adult Social Care will be required to make this decision.
- 4.4.3 Missed visits due to non-attendance of the carer are not chargeable. The service users must notify the relevant care provider as soon as possible so that a charge is not made incorrectly and also notify their social care worker as soon as possible who will investigate why the provider has not arrived.

4.5 Transport

- 4.5.1 Within the Care Act assessment, all relevant transport options will be considered (if required) as a provision to meet an identified need and any offer by the Council to provide transport will be made only where there are no suitable alternative transport options available or in rare circumstance where transport itself is identified as an eligible need. Where transport is provided by the Council, or in the rare instances where transport is an eligible need, then the charge for this will come within the financial assessment.
- 4.5.2 A daily rate will be charged for Council Transport provision. Whether a charge is payable will be determined by completion of an individual financial assessment. The service user will be required to given one weeks' notice to the

transport service if they wish to cancel a planned journey otherwise full charges will be incurred. However, in extenuating circumstance for e.g. an emergency hospital admission or ill health the requirement to give 1 weeks' notice would be waivered and a charge not applied. A senior manager within Adult Social Care will be required to make this decision.

- 4.5.3 Where the Council signposts service users to community transport or a public bus when other personal forms of transport are not available, individuals will be charged a fare for using this form of transport which they are required to pay directly to the service provider. These charges are not subject to financial assessment and the full cost levied by the transport provider is to be paid by the individual.
- 4.5.4 The Council retains the discretion to organise transport, even where this is not required to ensure provision of services to meet any assessed eligible need and support. Any such request will be considered on an individual basis.
- 4.5.5 Further information and detail may be found in the Councils Adult Social Care Transport Policy (

5. Personal Budgets and Direct Payments

- 5.1 A personal budget is an amount of Council funds that is judged to be sufficient to meet the identified needs of a person who is eligible for care and support. A personal budget for those people receiving care in a community settling can be taken as a direct payment. Direct payments are an option for people who would like to arrange their own care and support at home instead of receiving services commissioned and arranged by the Council. A personal budget or a portion of a personal budget will be paid into a separate bank account held separately by the service user or an authorised 3rd party to commission the care and support to meet their needs.
- 5.2 The Council will offer the option of a prepayment card where the main account is held by the Council and provide access to a sub account for each service user. Each service user will have a card linked to their own sub account which can be used to pay for services. Information and evidence of expenditure can also be uploaded in real time.
- 5.3 The Council will discuss the option of Direct Payments during the Care Act assessment and care planning process and if required can signpost the service user to an organisation that will support them with advice about becoming and employer.
- 5.4 Where the service user lacks capacity the person acting in their best interest or an authorised individual can request a Direct Payment on their behalf.
- 5.5 Where a person chooses to receive a Direct Payment, their charge will be determined through a financial assessment in accordance with this policy. The Council will pay the Direct Payment, less any charge the service user

is assessed to pay directly into the designated Direct Payment account. The service user is expected to pay their weekly charge into their nominated Direct Payments account to ensure that there is sufficient money available to meet their care needs. The payment of this charge will be monitored through regular audits.

- 5.6 The Direct Payment will be discontinued when a service user no longer needs the support for which the direct payments are made. This will follow an updated Care Act assessment and revised care and support plan, within which the service user will be consulted. If the Local Authority is considering discontinuing the Direct Payment due to a change of needs in all cases the individual will be consulted to explore the options.
- 5.7 Where a service user chooses to access a combination of support arranged by the Council and a Direct Payment and is assessed to make a financial contribution, the contribution will be deducted before the Direct Payment is paid. If the assessed contribution exceeds the amount of the Direct Payment, then an invoice will be sent for the remaining amount due.

6. Charges for Shared Lives Service

- 6.1 Shared Lives schemes provide care and support to vulnerable adults with learning disabilities, mental health problems or other needs who find it hard to live on their own.
- 6.2 Any person needing Shared Lives care will undertake a Care Act assessment and their needs will be identified within the care and support plan.
- 6.3 Long Stay Carers The level of support for the service user will be agreed within a care and support plan following a Care Act assessment. Where applicable, charges for services will be based upon the level of support required and identified within the care and support plan and determined by carrying out a financial assessment. Any housing costs will be claimed through benefit entitlement through either Housing Benefit or Universal Credit housing costs, normally based upon the Local Housing Allowance rates. The person requiring care may also be asked to contribute towards their own board and lodging costs from their benefit entitlements. The recommended rate quoted is based upon the Department for Works and Pension benefit rate for a single person.

7. Charges for Money Management.

- 7.1 An Appointee can deal with the Department for Work and Pensions benefit of someone who cannot manage their own affairs because they are mentally incapable or severely disabled.
- 7.2 The Council can become an Appointee for a person who is in receipt of care services where they are incapable of managing their benefit income themselves and have no family or any other person close to them to support them. This

appointment is made by the Department for Work and Pension (DWP) and is called a Corporate Appointeeship.

- 7.3 The Council can be an Appointee where a person:
 - Is mentally incapable or severely disabled
 - Is incapable of managing their benefit income
 - And there is no other close family member or suitable person able to take on this role.
- 7.4 The Council will open an account in their name and manage any benefit income. The Council will make sure that the person receives the benefits they are entitled to. The Council will also work with the person to establish a budget for paying bills and enable the person to make choices about personal expenditure.
- 7.5 There is a charge per week for this service the rate of which is decided by whether the person lives in a residential or nursing home setting or in their own home. This is reviewed on an annual basis.
- 7.6 The Council can also become a Deputy for a person where appropriate. The Court of Protection will appoint a Deputyship, and this works in a similar way to an Appointeeship. The Order also permits the Council to look after people's assets and income. Part 19 of the Court of Protection Rules 2007 sets out the fixed costs that may be claimed by public authorities acting in Court of Protection proceedings. These fixed costs are payable from a person's account in line with this practice direction.

8. Carers

- 8.1 Support services for carers that are provided or commissioned by Adult Social Care are free. This includes information, advice and preventative services. There is no charge to carers for any services provided directly to them to support them in their role as a carer. However, the Care Act 2014 provides Local Authorities with the power to charge for support for carers, where they have an eligible support need in their own right.
- 8.2 Where services are provided directly to the service user to meet their eligible care needs, in order to provide the carer with support, the service user will be charged in accordance with this policy.

9. Benefits Advice

- 9.1 A benefits check will be offered to all service users who are subject to a financial assessment under the non-residential charging policy. The benefits check may be undertaken during a phone call, by post, by a visit or by any other means deemed appropriate and effective by the Council in agreement with the service user.
- 9.2 The benefits check will consider the service user's income to calculate whether they may be entitled to any means tested or non-means tested benefits

based on their individual circumstances. The benefits check will only consider the service user's circumstances at the time of the benefits check; the accuracy of the advice given will be dependent on the information given by the service user.

- 9.3 A check will also be completed to identify possible entitlement to other means-tested awards e.g. Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS)
- 9.4 Service users will be advised of any potential entitlement to benefits and encouraged to complete the appropriate claim forms. Information on how to complete the claim forms will be offered to the service user along with information on organisations who may be able to assist with the completion of forms.
- 9.5 Where service users have been advised that they are entitled to receive benefits they will be deemed to be in receipt of those benefits from four weeks after the benefits check was completed.
- 9.6 If a benefit overpayment is identified the service user will be advised of the probable overpayment and be signposted to the relevant department of the Department for Work and Pensions to correct any overpayment. Each organisation is responsible for the quality and accuracy of the personal information it obtains, uses and shares. If it is discovered that information held is inaccurate the Council's representative will ensure that their records are updated accordingly.
- 9.7 Service users must notify the Corporate Assessment Client Finance team of any changes in benefit income and/or a change in circumstance which is likely to affect their income as soon as it occurs. The service user's financial assessment will then be reviewed to take into account these changes and any revised calculation will be backdated to the start of the benefit payment or the date of the first financial assessment, whichever is the latter.

10. Consent to Share Financial Information

- 10.1 The Council has a data sharing agreement with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) which enables the Council to access information relating to Service Users' personal, relationship (where relevant) and financial information for the purpose of:
 - Helping to ensure an accurate assessment of charging for care services
 - Supporting any application for DWP benefits
 - Local Council Tax Reduction (LCTR) scheme
 - Any other welfare provisions
- 10.2 In order to improve the quality and timeliness of social care financial assessments and in some cases carry out a light touch financial assessment, the Council will share information within its own systems regarding service users who are also in receipt of housing benefit or council tax reduction.

10.3 The Council is under a duty to protect the public funds it administers and may use the information provided from the financial assessment for the prevention and detection of fraud. We may share this information across the Council's services and also other bodies responsible for auditing and administering public funds.

11. Mental Capacity to Manage Finances

11.1 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 sets out people's rights and what happens when a person has lost capacity to manage or make decisions about their finances. It also sets out how service users can plan ahead to appoint someone, while they still have capacity, to make decisions for them in the future if they lose capacity.

Individuals who lack capacity to manage their finances:

- 11.2 If a person is legally appointed to act for someone, we are arranging care and support for, who lacks mental capacity to manage their finances, they must provide us with:
 - Evidence of their legal authority to act as the financial representative for that person, such as a copy of:
 - A registered Lasting Power of Attorney for property and financial affairs: or
 - ❖ A registered Enduring Power of Attorney (made and signed before 1st October 2007; or
 - ❖ A Court Order appointing them as Deputy for property and financial affairs.
 - Any financial information required to carry out a financial assessment for the person needing care and support.

11.3 The Council will then:

- Send any correspondence addressed to the person(s) appointed for the person they represent
- Require the person(s) acting to sign any financial documents or contracts on behalf of the person they represent
- Require the person(s) acting to settle any invoices for care charges raised in the name of the person they represent.
- 11.4 If the application to be the financial representative is in process the Council will:
 - Give information about any potential charges for the care and support services arranged, the date these charges may start from and explain how the financial assessment is carried out to the person appointed.

- Where a financial assessment is able to be completed the Council will send the person appointed any invoices for assessed care and support charges but allow for payments to be delayed until legal authority is received to access the necessary accounts.
- Where a financial assessment is not able to be completed the Council
 will defer the financial assessment until a person is appointed as the
 legal financial representative and they can provide the relevant
 information needed. The Council will backdate any assessed charges
 to the date of commencement of services.
- 11.5 Where the service user lacks capacity in regard to financial decisions and there is no one appointed to make those decisions, where necessary and/or appropriate, financial decisions will be made following the guidance and best interest process set out in the Mental Capacity Act and Mental Capacity code of practice.

12. Financial Assessment

- 12.1 A financial assessment will be undertaken for all service users with eligible needs under the Care Act who are in receipt of chargeable services. The financial assessment will ensure that the service user:
 - Has sufficient money to meet their housing costs and any disability related expenditure.
 - Retain their basic minimum income guarantee (MIG), in line with the Care Act 2014 guidance.
- 12.2 The purpose of the MIG is to leave enough money for service users to meet their day to day living expenses, for example the cost of rent, food and utilities. After charging, a person must be left with the minimum income guarantee (MIG) as set out in the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulation 2014. In addition, where a person receives benefits to meet their disability needs that do not meet the eligibility criteria for Local Authorities care and support, the charging arrangements should ensure that they keep enough money to cover the cost of meeting these disability related costs.
- 12.3 Where care is provided by way of a Shared Lives Scheme or another form of supported living, further deductions may be taken from the MIG figure in order to meet these costs, or, alternatively these costs may need to be paid by the service user to their carer from this sum.
- 12.4 The financial assessment will be calculated on the basis that the service user is receiving all the benefits that they have been identified as being entitled to i.e. if the service user is entitled to receive welfare benefits but is not claiming those benefits the financial assessment will assume that those benefits are in payment at the correct amount four weeks after they have been advised to make the claim.

- 12.5 The financial assessment takes into account income from the following disability benefits:
 - Severe Disability Premium (in Income Support or Employment Support Allowance).
 - Attendance Allowance (AA).
 - Disability Living Allowance (DLA) Care Component.
 - Constant Attendance Allowance (CAA) and
 - Exceptionally Severe Disablement Allowance (ESDA)
 - Personal Independent Payment (PIP) daily living component.
 - Universal Credit

Other bespoke income arrangements may also be taken into account depending on an individual's specific situation.

- 12.6 The higher rate of AA or DLA Care is only taken into account when care services are provided either on a 24-hour basis or during the day and during the night.
- 12.7 If higher rate of AA or DLA care is in payment and services are provided only during the day, the difference between the higher rate and the middle rate is disregarded.
- 12.8 If PIP is in payment no distinction is made between day and night care, therefore PIP is taken fully into account in the financial assessment. Where PIP is in payment and day or night care is not being arranged by the Council this may be considered as part of the disability related expenditure.
- 12.9 The Mobility Component of DLA and PIP **is not** included in the financial assessment. This also applies to the Mobility Supplement of a War Pension.
- 12.10 Income is assessed net of any Income Tax and net of any housing costs or Council Tax less any Housing Benefit or Council Tax reduction.
- 12.11 Service Users in receipt of War Widow/Widower Pension are given a £10 disregard. War Veteran Pensions are disregarded in full. Any War Supplementary Payments are also disregarded.
- 12.12 The assessment calculation is represented as:

Chargeable Income =
Actual income less MIG
Less Housing Costs
Less Disability Related Expenditure

- 12. 13 The financial assessment does not include any income from earnings in the calculation
- 12.14 The financial assessment may be undertaken by phone, by post, by a visit, or by any other means deemed appropriate or effective by the Council and agreed by the service user.

- 12.15 Financial assessments will be reviewed at regular intervals (at least annually) as directed by the Council, when benefits change or as changes occur in a service user's financial situation.
- 12.16 Where a review of a service user's financial assessment is undertaken the service user will be consulted and a copy of the review will be provided to them together with a copy of the Council's complaints procedure.

13. Disability Related Expenditure (DRE)

- 13.1 Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) is expenditure which service users incur in addition to their day to day living costs where the cost is more than normal expenditure and incurred due to disability rather than choice.
- 13.2 The amount of DRE is deducted from the financial assessment when determining a service user's charge.
- 13.3 The Council can award a standard weekly DRE allowance based on a service user's disability related benefit income.
- 13.4 These standard allowances will be reviewed and revised if necessary, on an annual basis as actual disability related expenditure information is gathered and may increase or decrease as a result.
- 13.5 Should a service user feel that the standard allowance they have been offered does not accurately reflect their disability related expenditure under this policy, they may request an individual assessment. This may involve a home visit by a member of staff from the Corporate Assessment Client Finance team, who will require supporting evidence of all expenditure. An individual assessment of DRE may result in a lower or higher assessment than the standard award as a result.
- 13.6 Types of expenditure made necessary by any disability might include:
 - Payment for community alarm system
 - Privately arranged care or domestic help
 - Higher than usual fuel bills.
 - Additional costs due to a special diet.
 - Purchase of equipment such as a stair lift or electric wheelchair
 - Additional laundry costs
 - Additional cost of clothing, bedding and footwear.
 - Basic garden maintenance.
- 13.7 The above list is not exhaustive, and any reasonable additional costs related to disability will be considered in light of individual needs.

14. Calculation of Actual Contribution

- 14.1 The actual calculation in relation to contributions due from each service user will be the outcome of the individual assessed weekly amount calculated from the financial assessment or the actual cost of care, whichever is lower.
- 14.2 There is no set maximum weekly charge.

15. Light Touch Financial Assessments

- 15.1 In some circumstances, the Council may be able to offer a light touch financial assessment. To do so it must be satisfied on the basis of evidence provided by the person that they can afford and will continue to be able to afford any charges due.
- 15.2 The main circumstances in which the Council will carry out a light touch financial assessment are:
 - Where a person has significant financial resources and does not wish to undergo a full financial assessment for personal reasons but wishes to access local authority support in meeting their needs.
 - Where there is a small or nominal amount charged for a particular service which a person is clearly able to meet and would clearly have the relevant minimum income left and carrying out a full financial assessment would be disproportionate.
 - When an individual is in receipt of benefits which demonstrate that they would not be able to contribute towards their care and support costs.
- 15.3 The Council, will inform people when it intends to carry out a light touch financial assessment and a full financial assessment can be requested as an alternative.

16. Exceptional circumstances

16.1 The Council retains discretion to depart from any aspect of this policy where appropriate (provided it complies with the law). If a service user or their representative feels that the Council should depart from this policy in their case, they can make a request to that effect by contacting the Corporate Assessment Client Finance team on 01244 972685.

17. Refusal to co-operate with a financial assessment and nondisclosure of financial details.

- 17.1 If a service user with capacity or their representative refuses to co-operate with a financial assessment they are likely to be required to pay the maximum charge applicable from the date the chargeable services commenced unless information as to their capital and income is already available to the Council in which case those figures may be used to inform the assessment.
- 17.2 Service users have the right to choose not to disclose their financial details. If this right is exercised, they will be required to pay the maximum charge applicable at the time the service was delivered.

18. Deprivation of Assets

- 18.1 Where the Council believes that a service user may have tried to deliberately avoid paying for care and support costs through depriving themselves of assets either capital or income, it may charge the person as if they still possessed the asset or, if the asset has been transferred to someone else, seek to recover the lost income from charges from that person.
- 18.2 It is for the service user or their representative to prove that they no longer own an asset or capital. Failure to do so will result in the Council treating the service user as though they still possess the asset or capital.
- 18.3 The Council will consider questions of deprivation of income and capital when:
 - The service user ceases to possess the said income or capital which could otherwise have been taken into account for the purpose of assessing their contribution towards their care services.
 - The service user/carer purposely deprives themselves of income or capital which would otherwise have been available to them, e.g. ownership of a property is transferred to another person or the beneficiary of an insurance policy is changed so that the monies are not available to the service user.

19 Non-payment of Care Charges

- 19.1 Failure to make payment will result in action being taken to recover the debt in accordance with the Council's Corporate Debt Policy.
- 19.2 Individual circumstances will be handled with sensitivity, however in fairness to those people who pay their assessed contributions; non-payment will be handled in line with the Council's own policies on debt management. Ultimately the Council may institute County Court proceedings to recover the debt.

20 Cancellation of service due to a financial charge

20.1 If a service user/carer wishes to cancel their service due to the level of the charge the Corporate Assessment Client Finance team will advise the designated social care worker who may undertake a risk assessment to ascertain any risks due to unmet needs. If risks are identified these will be discussed with the individual and wherever possible measures put in place to minimise the impact of any identified risks.

21 Right to Review

21.1 If the service user or their appointed representative disagrees with their assessed contribution calculation or feels that they have insufficient funds to pay the charge they have the right to a review of the amount of their assessed contribution.

21.2 Service users will be made aware of their right to appeal their assessed calculation within a 30 day period if, following the outcome of a review, he or she still considers they cannot afford to pay.

They can start the process by contacting the Corporate Assessment Client Finance team.

21.2 Contact us:

Corporate Assessment Client Finance Team PO Box 187 4 Civic Way Ellesmere Port CH34 9DB

Tel: 01244 972685

Email: westclientfinance@cheshirewestandchester.gov.uk